RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 25, 2015, 2:12 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

55-1

To be argued by ADAM P. KARP

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Washington Supreme Court

Ct. of Appeals Div. I Docket No. 72622-6-I

King Cy. Sup. Ct. Cause No. 14-2-20857-0K

CLORRISSA ESTRELLA,

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COUP Plaintiff-PetitionSTATE OF WASHINGTON

-against-

KING COUNTY, et al.,

Defendants-Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (RAP 13.4)

ADAM P. KARP, ESQ. ANIMAL LAW OFFICES *Attorney for Plaintiff-Petitioner* 114 W. Magnolia St., Ste. 425 Bellingham, WA 98225 (888) 430-0001 WSBA No. 28622

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals disregard binding Supreme Court precedent and conflicting Court of Appeals precedent in relying on speculative evidence to uphold vicious animal public nuisance charges and a related confinement order?

2. Did the Court of Appeals disregard well-established principles of statutory construction in interpreting various provisions of Chapter 11.04

¹ Ms. Estrella does not challenge the court's finding and conclusion that the Defendant King County/Board denied her procedural due process as applied.

of the King County Code, which would have extensive civil and criminal repercussions for the citizens of King County, the most populous County in Washington?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Regional Animal Services of King County ("RASKC") issued Ms. Estrella a *Notice and Order of Violation with Order to Confine* ("NVOC"), alleging two violations of KCC 11.04.230(K), for which a fine of one hundred (\$100) dollars was levied, and two violations of KCC 11.04.230(H), for which a fine of one thousand (\$1000) dollars was levied. The Order also subjected her other dog, Cortana, to a confinement order per KCC 11.04.290.

The stated Date and time of violation(s) was "12/23/13 15:15" at "19034 RIDGE RD SW/ VASHON" wherein it was further alleged that:

On the above date and approximate time the 2 dogs owned by the defendant were seen trespassing on private property. The property owner saw the dogs inside his goat pen and 2 of his goats had been killed. Also dead in the yard was several of the complainant's geese and many of the remaining animals had been injured.

RASKC held Ms. Estrella's two dogs, Godric and Cortana, responsible.

At the contested hearing before the King County Board of Appeals, Ron Weston testified that at about 3:15 p.m. on Dec. 23, 2013, he saw two dogs in his cattle-fenced, one-fifth acre, goat enclosure with

2

dimensions of 100 by 75-80 feet. **VRP 7:9-15, 23:14-18**.² After closing a dutch door to his goat *pen*, a small structure situated in the much larger goat *enclosure* and within which were four or five unharmed goats were huddled (**VRP 8:3-8**), Mr. Weston drove to his house, retrieved a shotgun, and drove back to the enclosure. Ms. Estrella does not dispute that one of her dogs, Godric, was in the enclosure (but not the pen).

Mr. Weston then described Godric's demeanor, noting he was "still roaming around in the enclosure. I wasn't conscious of him barking or growling." Mr. Weston then "fired one shot," missing. When Godric "circled around and tried to come past him" to escape, Mr. Weston fired again, killing him, even though Godric "was trying to evade [him]" and not acting aggressively toward him or any other animal at the time. **VRP 9:11-21, 21:1-8**.

Importantly, no witness, including Mr. Weston, ever saw Godric or Cortana touch any of his animals that day. **VRP 14:25—15:3**. In fact, Mr. Weston's own statement to RASKC on Dec. 24, 2013 confirms it could *not* have been Cortana, for he claimed to be "certain" that the two dogs in his enclosure the day prior were the ones who killed his neighbor Gus Schairer's cat.³ Mr. Weston's statement also contended that he did not get

² The Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP") is attached as **Exhibit E.**

³ Ms. Estrella submitted animal control records appended to her hearing brief

to the enclosure and first observe the dogs until 3:15 p.m. that day. VRP 10-15.

Walter Weston, the complainants' son, testified that on Dec. 23, 2013 he first saw two dogs in the goat enclosure from the family residence, a considerable distance away or certainly far enough to require Mr. Weston to drive. When Walter observed the aftermath, he saw "blood—lots of it." VRP 25:1-2. However, no witness saw any blood on Cortana or Godric. VRP 21:15-20 (R. Weston saw no blood anywhere on the dogs); VRP 33:24—34:8, 34:11-13 (Kellogg); see Ms. Estrella's offer of proof re: Thomas Ranada. Further, Walter Weston had never seen the dog he claimed to be Cortana prior to that day. VRP 25:21-24.⁴

On Dec. 23, 2013, Ms. Estrella lived with her boyfriend Leon Kellogg and two roommates, Cindy Moreno and Michael Didrickson. Mr. Kellogg testified that at about 9 a.m. on Dec. 23, 2013, he placed Godric and Cortana in a secure kennel on her property and then left for work. There had been no prior issues with its security. **VRP 30:2-13.** Neither dog had ever escaped prior to that day. **VRP 30:11-17.** He received a

demonstrating that the dogs responsible for killing the feline belonged to Dee Stoddard and her daughter, not Ms. Estrella. **CP 172-73, 178-83.** At hearing, Mr. Weston admitted that his statement identifying Ms. Estrella's dogs as the ones who attacked Mr. Schairer's cat "was inaccurate" and "incorrect." **VRP 16:24—17:5**.

⁴ Yet, he later identified her under highly questionable circumstances, i.e., "based on the photos that were posted online" by Ms. Estrella after RASKC accused Cortana of being involved. **VRP 25:25–26:3** (seeing photograph of only Godric and Cortana on a

panicked call from Ms. Estrella at about 1:45 p.m. stating that she came home to find the dogs gone. Mr. Kellogg returned home and began fixing the kennel when Cortana arrived at about 2 p.m. VRP 31:7-13; VRP 38:11-18 (confirmed by Ms. Estrella). He immediately took Cortana inside and locked her in the room where she remained the rest of the night. He then went outside to continue fixing the enclosure. VRP 31:13-19. About two hours later he received a call from Ms. Estrella to meet her at the Weston property. He arrived to find Godric's body lying in front of a large tree, observing no feathers, blood, or defensive wounds. VRP 33:24—34:8. When he returned home he inspected Cortana as well, finding no signs of blood or feathers on her. VRP 34:11-13.

Ms. Estrella lived on Vashon Is. since 1996 and testified that loose dogs were a "common sight," including in the six months around the time of the incident. **VRP 35:12-18.** An animal caretaker, entrusted by her clients to walk dogs, care for cats and horses, and make private house-calls to animals all over Vashon, Ms. Estrella had a firm grasp of geography and animal movement patterns. **VRP 35:19—36:1.** At no time prior to Dec. 23, 2013 did Cortana or Godric ever escape or had been reported to show aggression to any animal or person. **VRP 36:2-9.** Indeed, she submitted photographs showing Godric peaceably in the presence of a

website prepared by Ms. Estrella to raise money for her appeal); CP 325-329.

raccoon and a mouse. VRP 35:10-15; CP 193-198.

While Mr. Kellogg left earlier in the morning, Ms. Estrella testified that she last saw her dogs at about 1 p.m., when leaving for work, at which time she put them in the kennel. While engaged in this activity, she heard a loud ruckus of agitated and scared geese honking from the Weston property. **VRP 36:16—37:5.** Ms. Estrella then drove off to care for four dogs and twelve cats, distribute medication and clean litter boxes, after which she returned home between 1:30 and 1:45 p.m. to find her dogs missing. **VRP 37:6-14.** Mr. Didrickson told her that her dogs escaped, that he put them back, and they escaped again. **VRP 37:15-19.**

Meanwhile, Ms. Estrella continued searching for Godric. Her cell phone lost service, but when regained, she noticed a voicemail from a woman down the street, prompting her to call and speak to Mrs. Weston. On reaching Mrs. Weston, she told Ms. Estrella that her "dog," *not* "*dogs*." killed their livestock. **VRP 39:19-25.** When Ms. Estrella arrived to the Westons' property to find Godric with a bullet in his head, Mrs. Weston volunteered, "You know your dogs were involved in killing my neighbor's cat last summer or ... a couple of summers ago[.]" **VRP 41:12-14.** Aside from the fact that Mr. Weston later recanted on this point, it was simply not possible, as Cortana was not even alive.⁵

Testifying by declaration, Cindy Moreno stated that she saw Cortana and Godric break free from the kennel at about 1:30 p.m. and Cortana return at about 2:30 p.m. while Mr. Kellogg repaired it. **CP 176-77**. Ms. Estrella submitted declarations from several other individuals. All confirmed that neither Cortana nor Godric ever showed a vicious propensity.⁶

Procedural History

On May 21, 2014, the King County Board of Appeals conducted an evidentiary hearing on RASKC's Mar. 3, 2014 NVOC. On Jun. 30, 2014, it upheld the NVOC. **CP 5-9**. Ms. Estrella timely sought a writ of review before the King County Superior Court. **CP 1-4, 10-11**. The parties stipulated to issuance of the writ. **CP 13-14**. On Oct. 13, 2014, Judge Chun reversed and remanded for further proceedings by the Board, noting that it "deprived plaintiff of procedural due process." **CP 69-70**. Judge

⁵ Cortana was born Sept. 13, 2012.

⁶ For instance, see *Yelinek Decl.* (Godric would not even snarl at another living thing, would not chase cats, hide from puppies at times) [**CP 169-71**]; *Carey Decl.* (volunteer with Vashon Island Pet Protectors, testifying that Dee Stoddard, on same street as Westons, reported that the Stoddards' dogs were at large at least half a dozen times and that others reported them being at large "on at least a monthly basis"; that the Westons' dog was picked up and returned more than once after being at-large; and that since 2011, she received hundreds of calls from individuals seeing dogs at large on the island, including the generalized area near where the Westons live) [**CP 172-73**]; *Miksch Decl.* (Godric sweet, pleasant) [**CP 174-75**]; *Britz Decl.* (Godric showed no aggression toward livestock or chickens, though he had opportunity) [**CP 184-86**]; *Smith Decl.* (Godric

Chun issued an order on clarification as stated in **CP 71-72.** Thereafter, Ms. Estrella timely sought review as of right from the Court of Appeals. **CP 353-63.** On Oct. 26, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed and remanded. This petition for review timely followed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. <u>Standard for Review - RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4)</u>

Issues of first impression that affect not only the parties at bar but potentially thousands of other daily interactions throughout this State, warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005).⁷ Where the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court, grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1 and 2). Two RAP 13.4(b) issues exist – crediting speculative evidence and improper application of rules of statutory construction.⁸

played with baby raccoon and bugs) [CP 187-88]; *Housholder Decl.* (Cortana's gentle temperament) [CP 189-90].

⁷ Examples where the Court of Appeals has granted RAP 2.3(d)(3) review include *Guillen v. Contreras*, 147 Wash.App. 326, 330 (III, 2008)(noting matter was also of first impression regarding statutory interpretation); *In re Estate of Haviland*, 161 Wash.App. 851, 854 (I, 2011)(first impression).RAP 2.3(d)(3) serves as a rough analog to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

⁸ Code sections at issue follow:

^{11.04.190} Violations - Misdemeanor - Penalty. Any person who allows an animal to be maintained in violation of this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by fine of not more than two hundred fifty dollars and/or imprisonment for a term not to exceed ninety days.

2. Speculative Evidence (RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

This issue sweeps beyond King County boundaries. Specifically, the Court of Appeals's analysis of the distinction between speculative evidence and admissible inference, particularly in the context of animals blamed for harm to others when the actual insult was never witnessed, will impact animal control and law enforcement applications statewide, promoting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Furthermore, such ruling against Ms. Estrella triggers RAP 13.4(b)(2) in that it conflicts with *Morawek v. City of Bonney Lake*, 184 Wash.App. 487 (II, 2014), which reversed a

11.04.230 Nuisances defined. For purposes of this chapter, nuisances are violations of this chapter and shall be defined as follows:

(H) Any animal that has exhibited vicious propensities and constitutes a danger to the safety of persons or property off the animal's premises or lawfully on the animal's premises. However, in addition to other remedies and penalties, the provisions of this chapter relating to vicious animals shall apply;

^{11.04.200} Violations - civil penalty. In addition to or as an alternative to any other penalty provided in this chapter or by law, any person whose animal is maintained in violation of this chapter shall incur a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars per violation to be directly assessed by the manager of the animal care and control authority plus billable costs of the animal care and control authority. The manager, in a reasonable manner, may vary the amount of the penalty assessed to consider the appropriateness of the penalty to the nature and type of violation; the gravity of the violation; the number of past and present violations committed and the good faith of the violator in attempting to achieve compliance with prescribed requirements or after notification of a violation. All civil penalties assessed shall be enforced and collected in accordance with the procedure specified in this chapter.

^{11.04.260} Violations – notice and order. (A) Whenever the manager of the regional animal services section or animal care and control officer has found an animal maintained in violation of this chapter, the manager of the regional animal services section shall commence proceedings to cause the abatement of each violation.

dangerous dog designation because the City could produce no eyewitness testimony to which animal instigated the conflict that resulted in the cat's death.⁹ Admission of speculative evidence also conflicts with *State v. Kilgore,* 107 Wash.App. 160, 185 (II, 2001), *aff'd,* 147 Wn.2d 288 (2002), quoting *State v. Jones,* 67 Wn.2d 506, 512 (1965)("Courts should exclude evidence that is remote, vague, speculative, or argumentative because otherwise 'all manner of argumentative and speculative evidence will be adduced,' greatly confusing the issue and delaying the trial."), creating a RAP 13.4(b)(1) issue, as well.

In reversing a dangerous dog designation concerning a dog who admittedly killed a cat on the cat owner's property, the *Morawek* court found that the City failed to present substantial evidence that the incident occurred without provocation. As nobody saw how the fight between Scout and Oriel began, no direct or satisfactory circumstantial evidence existed to disprove the contention that Oriel provoked Scout. That Oriel likely inflicted a scratch to Scout's nose and that Oriel shrieked under the porch prior to being seen carried away in Scout's mouth, did not persuade

⁹ Though not cited as precedent, it should be noted that Division II again decided a case concerning the issue of speculation in the context of dogs responsible for killing animals. *See Downey v. Pierce Cy.*, 165 Wash.App. 152 (II, 2011), unpub. in part.

the court of nonprovocation, either, for such arguments are "rooted in speculation." *Id.*, at 495.

Facts here compel a similar conclusion.¹⁰ Assuming for the sake of argument that Cortana was even on the Westons' property, there was no admissible evidence that Cortana (or Godric, for that matter) were observed chasing, biting, attacking, injuring, or killing any person or animal. No witness saw either dog touch any goat or goose. No witness found blood or feathers anywhere on the bodies of Godric or Cortana. The County's contention that each of these dogs caused the mayhem claimed is based on speculation, for it must resort to guesswork as to whether Godric acted alone, Cortana acted alone,¹¹ both acted in concert, or neither was to blame (and instead a third animal – wild or domestic – was run off after inflicting harm). In an effort to establish guilt by mere association, however, the County held that both dogs exhibited vicious propensities although it could not prove *which* dog allegedly injured or killed the complainant's animals. Both KCC 11.04.230(H) charges fail on that basis.

¹⁰ While the argument certainly applies to the element "without provocation" as contained in KCC 11.04.020(BB), it preliminarily applies to the question of whether substantial evidence exists to support that claim that Cortana and Godric, individually, bit or killed the Westons' animals.

¹¹ Again, Ms. Estrella reiterates that Cortana was at home when Mr. Weston allegedly found two dogs in his enclosure.

This same evidentiary question of identification of the alleged assailant (among multiple suspects) resulted in reversals in *People v. Noga*, 168 Misc.2d 131 (N.Y.App.1996) and *Hobbs v. Kent Cy. SPCA*, *Inc.*, No. CPU5-10001252, 2011 WL 773448 (Del.Com.Pl.2011). In *Noga*, there was no dispute that between two dogs Jasmine and Thor, only Jasmine attacked the complainant's poodle, while Thor stood to the side. Yet animal control declared both dogs dangerous and ordered their destruction. The appellate court spared Thor's life in part because eyewitness testimony confirmed Jasmine's, but not Thor's, involvement. *Id.*, at 132 (agreeing that basis for reversal included fact that "only one of his dogs was actually involved in any aggressive behavior.") By that same logic, the total absence of eyewitness testimony should spare both Godric and Cortana.

Similarly, in *Hobbs*. the court properly reversed the dangerous dog order because no person testified that a particular, identifiable dog bit Ms. Pryor, and there was confusion as to which dog may have been the culprit. In sparing Raven's life, the *Hobbs* court recognized the defect of insufficient, speculative evidence, adding:

If there were no other dogs in the vicinity on the date in question, [the fingering of Raven, one of the three dogs owned by Hobbs] might have been sufficient to meet the standard of proof. However, the victim, Ms. Pryor, made a statement, which was testified to at the hearing through

hearsay, that there were three dogs being walked by Vonda earlier that day.

Id., at *5 (opinion attached per GR 14.1(b) as **Exhibit F**).

Additionally, the County presented not a shred of evidence (circumstantial or direct) that indicated that the Westons' animals were killed by *both* Godric and Cortana, as opposed to *just* Godric (if him at all) – whether by blood or feathers in the muzzle or on the hair of either dog; paw prints in the pen that match those of either dog; medical evidence showing the passing of any disease or parasite from deceased animal to either dog; measuring distances between, and lengths of, puncture wounds and matching them to the mouths of Godric and Cortana; taking a DNA sample from the bite wounds and matching them to either dog, or any other vector of proof.

With greater force, the facts at bar fail to make either or both Godric and Cortana responsible for biting or killing any goats or geese. Such pyramiding of inferences buckles under the weighty absence of evidence (i.e., the County asks that the mere presence of each dog allows one to draw the inference that both were present at the time of the killings, and further, that they each participated in the killings). While the County's attempt to arbitrarily and capriciously accuse both Cortana and Godric must fail, at the risk of playing into the speculation, another factor to

13

consider is that Godric remained long enough to be shot, while the other dog (alleged to be Cortana, but disputed by Ms. Estrella) ran off immediately, suggestive that the escaping dog was not guarding its kill.¹²

In the human accused context, and by rough analogy only, consider other-suspect evidence. In *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371 (2014), this Court found the harmful trial error in rejecting a proffer by the accused that another was responsible for the alleged crime. Albeit in a criminal setting with a different standard of proof, the notion that the defendant has the right to present other suspect evidence if she can show "a train of facts or circumstances as tend clearly to point out some one besides the [accused] as the guilty party." *Id.*, at 379 (quoting *State v. Downs*, 168 Wash. 664, 667 (1932)) bears reflection here. Refined over the years, the other-suspect defense would be regarded as inadmissible speculation unless "motive" or "motive coupled with threats of such other person" was coupled with "other evidence tending to connect such other person with the actual commission of the crime charged." *Id.*, at 379-80.

Apply the other-suspect doctrine to a variation of this dispute: Assume that the County only blamed Godric for the animals' deaths, yet another dog was also present when approached by Mr. Weston. Could Ms. Estrella have argued that the other dog was responsible? Would she have

¹² Note that Godric was attempting to run off when shot in the head by Mr. Weston.

laid the "train of facts or circumstances" sufficient to "clearly" point to the other dog as guilty? If not, then assuredly the County, who bore the burden of proof, could not do so. While there may have been substantial evidence to support that both dogs were *at-large* (again, a genuine issue of material fact exists here and will be challenged on remand, if need be), there simply was none that both killed animals.

2. Statutory Misconstruction (RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

Unincorporated King County is home to 325,002 people based on 2010 U.S. Census statistics.¹³ It is the most populated county in Washington State.¹⁴ Among counties, it follows that it has the greatest number of enforcement actions taken against animal owners in the State of Washington. The Code at issue, Ch. 11.04 KCC, and, indeed, the very subsection at issue, KCC 11.04.230(H), has been subject to appellate review. See State v. Ankney, 53 Wash.App. 393, 399 (I, 1989) (examining vagueness of phrase "lawfully on"). As discussed in Ankney, KCC 11.04.230(H) has both civil and criminal repercussions; not only may a dog owner be criminally charged, but a dog owner who violates an order of confinement (as issued to Ms. Estrella) may be prosecuted, fined up to

https://data.kingcountv.gov/Census/Unincorporated-King-Countv-Population-2000-2010/t7m5-d3dx ¹⁴ http://data.spokesman.com/census/2010/washington/counties/.

an additional \$1000, and her dog confiscated and killed. See KCC 11.04.200 and KCC 11.04.290(A)(3).

Only one incident is described in the NVOC. However, KCC 11.04.230(H) requires proof of at least two – the *prior one* where the animal "exhibited" vicious propensities, and a *subsequent one* where the animal "constitutes" a danger. Note the difference in verb tense. If the County Council intended to deem a dog a public nuisance for a single incident, as alleged, it would have used the past tense form of the verbs "exhibit" and "constitute." A plain reading requires proof of distinct elements at two different time points. Any other reading would render the phrase "and constitutes a danger to the safety of persons or property of the animal's premises or lawfully on the animal's premises" mere surplusage, contrary to the rules of statutory construction.¹⁵

Also within the nuisance section of KCC 11.04.230, one finds:

I. Any vicious animal or animal with vicious propensities that runs at large at any time is off the owner's premises not securely leashed on a line or confined and in the control of a person of suitable age and discretion to control or restrain the animal. However, in addition to other remedies and penalties, the provisions of this chapter relating to vicious animals shall apply;

¹⁵ Stone v. Chelan Cy. Sheriff's Dept., 110 Wn.2d 806, 810 (1988)(statutes must be interpreted and construed so all language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous).

KCC 11.04.230(I). Here, the County again requires proof of two incidents—viz., conduct giving rise to a declaration of the animal as "vicious" or a historical record of "vicious propensities" *followed by* that animal "run[ning] at large at any time[.]" Despite the two-incident argument made herein, the panel concluded that,

Under a straightforward reading, the second clause of KCC 11.04.230(H), "and constitutes a danger," does not refer to a subsequent vicious act. Rather, it describes an animal that has become a public nuisance because it has performed or shown the propensity to perform any vicious act. We disagree that "[a] plain reading requires proof of distinct elements at two different time points." This reading would create a "one free bite" rule, contrary to the statute's public safety purpose.¹⁶

Dec., at 8-9. Yet, in the next paragraph of the opinion, it states that Ms. Estrella was appropriately cited for Godric's behavior even though he was dead since he "barked and growled threateningly at Ron Weston" after "attacking, injuring, and killing the Westons' domesticated animals" and thus "presented a danger ... after the attack ... until the moment Weston shot him." *Id.*, at 9. In other words, the panel takes the internally contradictory position that KCC 11.04.230(H) requires that only <u>one</u>

¹⁶ The panel's citation to KCC 11.04.010 is inapposite for it is not a rule of construction but simply a policy statement as to the tasks and functions of animal control. That said, it speaks to controlling errant animal behavior so that it <u>shall not become</u> a public nuisance. So stated, it addresses an earlier time point. It does not speak to the interpretation of laws that in fact define a public nuisance and enforce restrictions on dogs declared such. If anything, it supports the view that becoming a public nuisance signals a significant change in legal status that does not result unless the animal's misbehavior has ripened over the course of *more than one* incident.

incident be proved, while then proceeding to argue that the <u>second</u> incident satisfied the second clause and warranted issuance of the citation. It should be noted that the NVOC never alleged that either dog constituted a danger by barking and growling and, in briefing before the Board, superior court, and Court of Appeals, the County essentially conceded that a dead dog cannot constitute a danger and that the relevant time point for determining danger is the *time of issuing the citation*.¹⁷ At that time, Godric was long deceased.

KCC 11.04.230(I), quoted above, serves to further undermine the panel's unpersuasive reasoning that a dog violates KCC 11.04.230(H) if it simply meets the definition of "vicious," explaining that the second clause ("constitutes a danger") merely "describes an animal that has become a public nuisance because it has performed or shown the propensity to perform any vicious act." *Dec.*, at 9. Is not the purpose of KCC 11.04.020(BB) to define what makes a dog "vicious"? If so, why would

¹⁷ In attempting to elide the distinction, the County claims that KCC 11.04.230 "obvious[ly]" provides that "any animal which has exhibited vicious propensities *some time before the moment the owner was cited*, and *still* constitutes a danger to the safety of persons or property, is a nuisance." In so doing, it inserts language (i.e., the citing moment) not found in the code. The County's reading into the ordinance a time-of-citing element proves the ordinance's vagueness. While Ms. Estrella disputes the County's interpretation, its own logic necessarily excuses at least one \$500 fine since the County impliedly concedes that Godric would not still constitute a danger after the date cited. **CP 56:10-11** ("Both dogs met the definition of vicious, including Godric, for as long as he lived between killing the livestock and being shot himself..."); **CP 216:1-3**(emphasis added) ("Cortana continues to constitute a danger **because she is still alive** and could be involved in another such attack.").

the second clause of KCC 11.04.230(H) be necessary? To further define what makes a dog vicious?

The answer is simple: it is neither definitional nor elucidative, but a material element that defines "nuisance." A "vicious" dog is not, in and of itself, a "nuisance." The second clause should not be rendered a mere superfluity but instead given meaning, which the panel has refused to do, in conflict with Supreme Court statutory construction rules. If a dog were a public nuisance solely for exhibiting vicious propensities on one occasion, then why would the County have enacted yet another nuisance subsection (KCC 11.04.230(I)) with a second clause that further outlines the violation? The panel's ruling also has broad public importance in that it will affect civil and criminal applications of this code (not just as applied to Ms. Estrella on remand).

While there is nothing ambiguous about past tense and present tense, if the court finds it such, then Ms. Estrella's strict reading is required under the rule of lenity, given that a violation of KCC 11.04.230(H) is also a crime. KCC 11.04.190; see also *State v. Ankney*, 53 Wash.App. 393 (I, 1989). "If a statute is ambiguous, the rule of lenity requires us to interpret the statute in favor of the defendant absent legislative intent to the contrary." *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600

(cit. om.) (2005). "A statute is ambiguous if it is subject to two or more reasonable interpretations." *State v. McGee*, 122 Wn.2d 783, 787 (1993). "Under the rule of lenity, the court must adopt the interpretation most favorable to the criminal defendant." *Id.* The rule of lenity serves an important tie-breaking function, in favor of Ms. Estrella. While it is true that the lenity rule is traditionally a method of statutory construction applicable to criminal, not civil, proceedings, civil lenity applications have been endorsed by the United States Supreme Court.¹⁸ If the County wanted to declare dogs as nuisance for past misconduct, it simply could have drafted the code to encompass "any animal that has exhibited vicious propensities." and left it at that.

VI. CONCLUSION

This court should grant review on any or all grounds articulated above.