RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 22, 2015, 1:07 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92555-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLORRISSA ESTRELLA

Petitioner,

٧.

KING COUNTY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

NANCY A. BALIN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W400 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1120

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

II. ARGUMENT

A. Review Criteria

RAP 13.4 specifies that:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

(emphasis added).

Petitioner's assertion that this matter warrants review under RAP 13.4 subsections (1), (2) and (4) is simply not supported by the circumstances of this case. For the reasons discussed below, review in this matter is not warranted under any of the relevant review criteria.

B. No Conflict with Any Appellate Decision

The Court's well-reasoned, plain language construction of the County ordinance at issue does not conflict with any Washington State Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision.

The Court applied well-established criteria in support of its decision that King County Code 11.04.230(H) was correctly interpreted as requiring only one incident for a finding of nuisance. Opinion at pp. 8-9. More specifically, the Court applied the first rule of statutory construction: Start with the plain meaning. Opinion at p.

7. The Court stated:

Under a straightforward reading, the second clause of KCC 11.04.230(H), "and constitutes a danger," does not refer to a subsequent vicious act. Rather, it describes an animal that has become a public nuisance because it has performed or shown the propensity to perform any vicious act.

Opinion at p. 8.

Finding that the ordinance was not ambiguous, the Court rejected Petitioner's argument that it had to apply the rule of lenity to the provision. Opinion at 9. The Court further pointed out the negative public policy ramifications of adopting Petitioner's argument, disapproving the resulting "one free bite rule." <u>Id.</u>

The Court also properly rejected Petitioner's assertions that in applying King County Code 11.04.230, (a) the death of one of

petitioner's dogs precluded King County from asserting its viciousness, and (b) King County had to prove that she had a culpable mental state. Opinion at pp. 9-13. Estrella does not cite to any case that conflicts with the Court's determination of this issue. Indeed, to the contrary, in *State v. Ankney*, 53 Wn. App. 393, 400, 766 P.2d 1131 (1989), the Court found this exact section of the County's ordinance to be "sufficiently definitive" and approved of its dual criminal and civil repercussions. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with *Ankney*.

While Petitioner disagrees with the Court's holding regarding the plain language of King County Code 11.04.230(H), the analysis applied is wholly consistent with established case law.

1. No Conflict Regarding Sufficiency of Evidence.

Petitioner's case-specific allegations regarding the sufficiency of evidence do not support her request for review, particularly given the fact that additional evidence is contemplated as part of the King County Board of Appeals' remand hearing.

In any event, petitioner does not point to any case that conflicts with the Court's determination that there was sufficient

evidence to identify her two dogs inside the goat enclosure, with the dead goats.

Petitioner's assertion of alleged conflict with *Morawek v. City* of *Bonney Lake* is misplaced. *Morawek*, concerned a factual issue regarding provocation, because the dog in a fight with the (missing) cat came home with a scratch. 184 Wn. App. 487, 337 P.3d 1097 (2014). By contrast, petitioner's case does not involve any issues regarding provocation. Additionally, the *Morawek* court found, as did the Court of Appeals in this case, that circumstantial evidence has no less value than direct evidence, and that there was sufficient evidence in this case for the citations.

All of the Washington cases cited by petitioner were criminal cases with issues of government identification procedures. They do not conflict with the Court's opinion here, which involves dogs, not people; civil citations, not criminal charges; and identification by a citizen using pictures posted online by Petitioner, not a "government-directed" identification procedure. See Opinion at p. 18.

Moreover, as found by the Court of Appeals, the foreign cases cited by Petitioner neither support her argument, Opinion at p. 17, nor meet the showing required under RAP 13.4(b). Finally, the facts are not "at bar" – they have been found by the Board of Appeals.

CP 5-7. The Court of Appeals declined Petitioner's invitation to speculate about other possible culprits of the carnage or reweigh the evidence regarding the Westons' identification of petitioner's dog. Opinion at pp. 16-17.

While Petitioner disagrees with the Court's holding regarding the sufficiency of the evidence, the analysis that was applied is wholly consistent with established Washington case law. See Brief of Respondent at pp. 14 - 20.

There is no case law conflict that arises from the Court's holding that there was sufficient evidence for King County's citations.

C. No Substantial Public Interest Justifies Review

This case likewise does not involve any issue of substantial public interest that would justify further review. The Court of Appeal's decision is unreported and cannot therefore be cited as precedent. The Court's rulings with respect to sufficiency of evidence and statutory construction are case-specific, well-supported under accepted legal standards and do not raise any issue of substantial public interest that justifies review by this Court.

III. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, King County respectfully requests that Petitioner's request for review be denied.